**RECEIVED**

**Nov 20 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Orangeburg County

Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL DEANGLO CORBITT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000361

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

WANDA H. CARTER  
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial judge erred in allowing an expert witness to testify beyond the scope of Rule 801(d)(1), SCRE, in a criminal sexual conduct case, where the witness exceeded the lawful bounds of the rule and told the jury in Appellant's case about much more than time and place of the incident?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 14, 2021, an Orangeburg County grand jury indicted Appellant on four different offenses: carjacking, criminal sexual conduct in the first degree, assault and battery in the first degree, and kidnapping. R. 364-371. Represented by Jason Turnblad and Breen Stevens, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Clifton Newman on March 7, 2022. Catherine M. Hunter and W. Phillip Giese appeared on behalf of the state.

After a three-day trial, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 327, l. 19 – R. 328, l. 6. Judge Newman sentenced Appellant to sixteen years on the criminal sexual conduct, kidnapping, and carjacking offenses, concurrent. R. 359, l. 17 – R. 360, l. 4. He sentenced Appellant to ten years on the assault and battery charge. Id.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The decision of whether to admit or exclude testimony from an expert witness is within the sound discretion of the circuit court. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006) (citations omitted). The circuit court's decision to admit expert testimony will not be reversed on appeal absent "a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice." State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006) (citations omitted). An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court's conclusions "either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2013) (quoting Douglas, 369 S.C. at 429–30, 632 S.E.2d at 848) (internal quotation marks omitted). "A [circuit] court's ruling on the admissibility of an expert's testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion where the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair." State v. Grubbs, 353 S.C. 374, 379, 577 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing Means v. Gates, 348 S.C. 161, 166, 558 S.E.2d 921, 924 (Ct.App.2001)). To show prejudice, the appellant must prove "that there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof." Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) (citing Means, 348 S.C. at 166, 558 S.E.2d at 924).

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge erred in allowing an expert witness to testify beyond the scope of Rule 801(d)(1), SCRE, in a criminal sexual conduct case, where the witness exceeded the lawful bounds of the rule and told the jury in Appellant’s case about much more than time and place of the incident.**

### Relevant facts

At trial, the state alleged that on September 23, 2018, Appellant was in the car with Keandra Nickens when he assaulted and kidnapped her. R. 48, l. 24 – R. 49, l. 2. Nickens was dating Appellant and Johnny Brown at the time. R. 49, l. 3 – R. 50, l. 12. Nickens and Appellant went to eat that morning at the Sonic in Orangeburg, South Carolina. R. 51, ll. 3 – 24.

Nickens testified that on the way back to Appellant’s house, while Appellant was driving, he hit her “out of the blue.” R. 53, ll. 16 – 22. After striking her, he allegedly grabbed her by the hair for the remainder of the drive. R. 54, ll. 2 – 10. Instead of driving to his mother’s house, Appellant drove down a side road. R. 54, ll. 11 – 24.

Nickens claimed Appellant resumed hitting her and began with verbal threats as well. R. 56, l. 4 – R. 57, l. 4. He then sexually assaulted her, according to her testimony. Id. She managed to get away, and Appellant leapt onto the hood of the car as Nickens drove off. R. 58, l. 5 – R. 59, l. 23. A struggle ensued until two passersby stopped in a truck; Appellant then drove off. R. 60, l. 16 – R. 64, l. 20.

Nickens was treated at the hospital and seen by a sexual assault nurse. R. 71, l. 17 – R. 73, l. 22. The nurse, Cadey Keigans, was called by the state during its case-in-chief. R. 126. Keigans is a registered nurse with a Bachelor’s Degree from Exercise Science from the University of South Carolina. R. 127, ll. 4 – 9. She also has a Bachelor’s in Nursing from the

University of South Carolina in Aiken. Id. At the time of trial, she worked in the labor and delivery department; she was previously a nurse in the emergency room. R. 127, ll. 10 – 18. She worked in the emergency room for approximately two-and-a-half years. R. 127, ll. 19 – 23.

Keigans was the “SANE” nurse, or sexual assault nurse examiner. R. 128, ll. 1 – 6. In order to be elevated from a registered nurse to a sexual assault nurse examiner, she received forty hours of classroom time, an undisclosed number of clinical hours, and ten supervised cases. R. 128, ll. 7 – 17.

The state sought to qualify Keigans as an expert in sexual assault exams. R. 129, ll. 4 – 6. Following an objection from defense counsel, Keigans was cross-examined. She told the trial judge that she had never been qualified as an expert before. R. 126, l. 17 – R. 141, l. 6. She had never written any articles or been published in any scientific journals. Id. She had never done any peer review studies. Id. She testified that she had performed approximately fifty sexual assault “cases” while in the emergency department, although it was unclear how many of those were performed before Nickens’ evaluation. R. 131, ll. 19 – 22. Keigans referenced her psychology minor but admitted she had not participated in any training in that area. R. 132, ll. 7 – 18.

Defense counsel posited that “it’s [not] necessary to be an expert just to tell [the jury] what you did.” R. 136, ll. 4 – 6. He continued, “it’s not necessarily whether she’s qualified as an expert witness, but whether this is necessary ... for her to be an expert for the jury to understand the evidence.” R. 136, l. 22 – R. 137, l. 1. Counsel twice referenced Rule 702, SCRE, and argued it was not necessary for Keigans to be qualified as an expert to discuss her actions as they relate to this case. R. 137, l. 2 – R. 139, l. 9.

The trial judge ruled that he would qualify her as an expert. R. 141, ll. 6 – 21. Keigans then testified before the jury regarding the typical procedures related to a sexual assault examination. R. 142, ll. 1 – 25. She then got more specific and referenced the examination she did on Nickens on September 24, 2018. R. 143, ll. 1 – 9.

The assistant solicitor asked the expert witness who did not witness the alleged altercation to “explain to the jury how the assault occurred.” R. 143, ll. 19 – 20. Defense counsel immediately objected on a hearsay basis. R. 143, ll. 21 – 22. The state suggested that the expert’s testimony could fall under Rule 803(4), SCRE. R. 144, ll. 18 – 19. In response, defense counsel articulated how Rule 801(d)(1) placed a limitation on this type of testimony. R. 145, ll. 11 – 21. Counsel specifically argued:

Your Honor, and I just wanted to point out in my argument just that it’s limited. I’m not saying that it isn’t necessarily hearsay, I’m saying under 801(d)(1), **it’s limited to the time and place of the incident, no more.** Looking at the last part of (d)(1)(d).

R. 146, ll. 19 – 25 (emphasis added).

The trial judge overruled defense counsel’s objection and allowed the testimony. R. 147, l. 6. Keigans was then asked by the state to “tell the jury about how ... [Nickens] described how she was assaulted and how that’s pertinent to your medical exam?” R. 147, ll. 11 – 14. Her response exceeded the limited scope of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence and was unrelated to the state’s relied-upon exception:

Sure. Ms. Nickens described to me that she was in a vehicle when she was initially physically assaulted by being punched in the face and having her hair pulled. Then after she was driven to a wooded area, she was pulled out of the vehicle where she was sexually assaulted when the alleged assailant penetrated her vagina with his fingers and then followed with his penis.

She was pulled back into the vehicle by her hair and her arm. And she was continued to be physically assaulted until they came to a gas station. And [at] that point she was able to get into the driver’s seat to attempt to drive away.

R. 147, l. 15 – R. 148, l. 2.

Following the above testimony, the trial judge interjected and pointed out how the question pertained to medical treatment. R. 148, ll. 3 – 5. Nonetheless, the state questioned Keigans about the assault and Nivens' physical appearance and demeanor. R. 148 ,ll. 19 – R. 150, l. 5.

### Discussion

Under Rule 801, SCRE, a statement is not hearsay if:

The declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement, and the statement is ... consistent with the declarant's testimony in a criminal sexual conduct case ... where the declarant is the alleged victim and the statement is limited to the time and place of the incident.

Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE.

The corroborative testimony is limited to the time and place of the alleged assault and cannot include details regarding the assault. Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 566, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010). Stated differently, this rule “limits corroborating testimony ... to the time and place of the assault(s)” and considers it to be nonhearsay whereas “any other details or particulars, including the perpetrator’s identity,” are generally considered hearsay and must be excluded unless they fall within an exception. Thompson v. State, 423 S.C. 814, 814 S.E.2d 487 (2018).

In State v. Smith, this Court found error when Kendra Twitty, a forensic interviewer, “identified the perpetrator by testifying the victim reported he was about six or seven years old ‘when hie dad started to do these things to him.’ ” 411 S.C. 161, 169-70, 767, S.E.2d 212, 217-17 (Ct. App. 2014). This Court held “[w]e agree with Smith this constituted error because it went beyond time and place.” Id. This Court elected not to reverse based on other testimony held to be cumulative. Id.

“[S]hould the proponent desire more information beyond the permissible ‘time and place’ evidence, a rule or statute must allow for the admission of the additional evidence.” State v. Simmons, 423 S.C. 552, 563, 816 S.E.2d 566, 572 (2018). The additional evidence typically constitutes hearsay, both in Simmons and the matter *sub judice*. “Hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE. “Hearsay is inadmissible, except as provided by the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, by other court rule, or by statute.” State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 478, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011). After an objection is raised, the proponent of hearsay testimony has the burden of showing it fits appropriately within a hearsay exception.

In Simmons, *supra*, the state sought to fit the testimony of a doctor within Rule 803(4), the hearsay exceptions for “[s]tatements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment.” 423 S.C. 552, 816 S.E.2d 566 (2018). Our Supreme Court instructed:

Rule 803(4), SCRE, may well apply in a CSC case, but there must be a nexus between the information provided by the patient and the diagnosis or treatment of the patient. For example, after recent trauma, these type of statements can provide the doctor with specific areas to focus on or specific conditions to search for when performing the diagnostic physical exam and are reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment.

Id. at 563, 816 S.E.2d at 572.