RECEIVED

Sep 29 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Court of Appeals Case No. 2022-000361

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL DEANGLO CORBITT,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

AMIE L. CLIFFORD
Special Assistant Attorney General
aclifford@cpc.sc.gov
S.C. Bar No. 1285

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID MICHAEL PASCOE, JR.
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1525
Orangeburg, South Carolina 29116
(803) 533-6252

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Appellant has failed to preserve any issue for appeal because his objection at trial was based on only one ground, the judge admitted the challenged evidence based on two grounds, and Appellant argues a different ground on appeal than at trial. The trial court properly exercised its discretion in admitting the sexual assault nurse examiner's testimony as to what the sexual assault victim told her happened as the victim's statements were either not hearsay under Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE, or fell under the "Statements for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment" exception to the hearsay rule in Rule 803(4), SCRE. Assuming *arguendo* some of the statements were improperly admitted, any error in their admission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt since it could not have reasonably affected the result of the trial. Further assuming *arguendo* some of the challenged statements were improperly admitted and the error was not harmless, only Appellant's criminal sexual conduct in the first degree conviction need be reversed and remanded for a new trial. (Issue I)

Background

During the presentation of the State's case, after the victim had testified, Cadey Keigans was called to the stand. Ms. Keigans testified she had bachelor's degrees in both nursing and exercise science. (Tr. p. 201, lines 6-9.) She also received special training to be a SANE, consisting of 40 hours of classroom training at MUSC and clinical hours worked at MUSC, followed by 10 supervised sexual assault cases, for which she was supervised by her director. (Tr. p. 202, lines 7-20; p. 204, line 1 – p. 205, line 22.) At Aiken Regional, she worked in the emergency department from February 2017 to October 2019. (Tr. p. 201, lines 13-23.) Ms. Keigans testified that she was a registered nurse employed by Aiken Regional. (Tr. p. 201, lines 10-18.) At the time of the trial, she worked as a nurse in labor and delivery, but in September 2018, she worked in the emergency department of the hospital. (Tr. p. 201, lines 14-23.) When she worked in the emergency department, she was also the sexual assault nurse examiner (SANE). Ms. Keigans explained that SANEs provide trauma-informed care to patients and collect evidence after a sexual assault. (Tr.

p. 202, lines 21-25.) She did approximately 50 exams as the SANE nurse. (Tr. p. 202, lines 1-6; p. 203, lines 1-3.)

After being qualified as an expert in sexual assault examinations, Ms. Keigans explained that a SANE exam includes pertinent medical history, which could include things like the timing of a woman's last period, current medications being taken, hygiene since the sexual assault, and recent consensual intercourse. The SANE then asks the patient to recall what happened, while she documents the details about the sexual assault. (Tr. p. 215, lines 11-21; p. 216, lines 1-11.) The patient is asked to undress, and the patient's clothes are collected. Next is a visual head-to-toe examination, with any findings, such as injuries, documented on the SLED form. After that, another head-to-toe examination is conducted using UV light. Finally, there is the collection of swabs for evidence, a speculum examination of the genitals, and prophylactic treatment for sexually transmitted diseases and pregnancy are provided. (Tr. p. 216, lines 13-22.)

Ms. Keigans said that she performed an exam on the victim on September 24, 2018, in the emergency department of Aiken Regional. (Tr. p. 217, lines 1-9.) The victim was by herself. (Tr. p. 217, lines 10-12.) Ms. Keigans testified the victim told her how she was assaulted. (Tr. p. 217, lines 13-18). The prosecutor then asked Ms. Keigans to explain how the victim was assaulted and how that was relevant to her examination. (Tr. p. 216, lines 13-15.)

At that point, defense counsel objected to Ms. Keigans testifying about what the victim told her on hearsay grounds. (Tr. p. 218, lines 16-17.) The trial court read out Rule 803(4), SCRE, the "Statements for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment" exception to the hearsay rule and asked the defense to respond. (Tr. p. 218, line 25 – p. 219, line 10.) Defense counsel stated that, under Rule 801(d)(1), SCRE, Ms. Keigans' testimony should be limited to only the time and place of the assault. (Tr. p. 219, line 11 – 21; p. 220, lines 19-25.) The prosecutor countered that,

under Rule 801, the statements would not be hearsay, and, under Rule 803, they would fall under an exception to the hearsay rule. (Tr. p. 221, lines 2-5.) The trial court overruled the objection. (Tr. p. 221, line 6.)

Ms. Keigans thereafter testified that the victim said she was in a vehicle when she was initially physically assaulted by being punched in the face and having her hair pulled. (Tr. p. 221, lines 15-18.) Then, after being driven to a wooded area, the victim told her she was pulled out of the vehicle and sexually assaulted, with the “alleged assailant” penetrating her vagina first with his fingers and then with his penis. (Tr. p. 221, lines 18-22.) The victim said she was then pulled back into the vehicle by her hair and arm, and the physical assault upon her continued until they arrived at a gas station. (Tr. p. 221, line 23 – p. 222, line 1.) The victim told her she was able at that point to get into the driver’s seat in an attempt to drive away. (Tr. p. 222, lines 1-2.)

The trial court then interrupted to say, “[t]he only testimony in relation to what is necessary involving medical treatment.” (Tr. p. 222, lines 11-13.)

When asked by the prosecutor if she had asked the victim about vaginal penetration to know where to swab, Ms. Keigans answered affirmatively. She repeated that Ms. Keigans had said her assailant had inserted his fingers and his penis in her vagina. (Tr. p. 222, line 19 – p. 223, line 3.) She also asked the victim if he had ejaculated inside her, and the victim said he had not. (Tr. p. 223, lines 4-8.)

Ms. Keigans testified she questioned the victim about her post-assault hygiene. The victim told her that, since the assault, she had urinated about four times, had brushed her teeth that morning, had some fluids to drink, and had showered a couple of times. (Tr. p. 223, lines 9-22.) Ms. Keigans explained to the jury that post-assault hygiene matters because each time any of the activities the victim mentioned occurs, evidence gets washed away from the body. (Tr. p. 223,

lines 23-25.)

She testified she then performed her physical examination of the victim. A head-to-toe physical examination of the victim was done twice, first with the naked eye. Ms. Keigans observed and documented numerous injuries to the victim:

- an abrasion on her right buttocks,
- an abrasion on her left wrist,
- three missing acrylic fingernails on both hands (six total),
- a bruise on back of her left arm,
- a partial bite mark on her right hand,
- a scabbed-over abrasion on the middle of her forehead,
- a bruise underneath her left cheek,
- two black eyes,
- a full bite mark on her right thigh, with bruising around it, and
- a circular bruise on her left thigh.

(Tr. p. 224, line 6 – p. 225, line 9.) The subsequent UV examination was positive on the victim's left hand. (Tr. p. 224, lines 9-10.) Ms. Keigans swabbed the victim's mouth and her thighs where the bite marks were located, did a pubic hair combing, and collected fingernail scrapings. (Tr. p. 226, line 2 – p. 227, line 23.) She also collected the victim's leggings and any debris that fell onto a sheet from the victim's clothing when she undressed. (Tr. p. 228, lines 1-9.) A genital examination was done by a doctor, with Ms. Keigans present. The victim's genitalia were within normal limits. (Tr. p. 230, lines 9-12.) A vaginal swab was collected. (Tr. p. 225, line 11 – p. 226, line 1.)

Argument

At trial, the only objection and argument made by Appellant, as to Ms. Keigans' testimony about what the victim told her, was any testimony that went beyond the time and place of the

assault violated Rule 801(d)(1)(D). In support of the admission of the challenged testimony, the State argued the statements were either non-hearsay under Rule 801(d)(1)(D) or admissible under Rule 803(4) as a statement for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment. The trial court agreed with the State. (Tr. p. 218, line 18 – p. 222, line 18.) On appeal, Appellant frames the issue as an 801(d)(1)(D) issue as follows:

Whether the trial judge erred in allowing an expert witness to testify beyond the scope of Rule 801 (d)(1)(D), SCRE, in a criminal sexual conduct case, where the witness exceeded the lawful bounds of the rule and told the jury in Appellant's case about much more than time and place of the incident?

(Initial Brief of Appellant at 1.) He then uses the last three paragraphs of his brief to argue, for the first time, that Rule 803(4) does not apply to the challenged testimony of Ms. Keigans.

It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. It must have been timely and specifically raised at trial by the appellant and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review. *State v. Freiburger*, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005); *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004). Moreover, an appellant is limited to the arguments made at trial – he or she may not argue one ground at trial and then another on appeal. *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989). Here the only testimony of Ms. Keigans that Appellant is challenging on appeal is that which was admitted under Rule 803(4). His failure at trial to object to the admission of that evidence under Rule 803(4) results in his failure to properly preserve any challenge to such and leaves nothing for this Court to review.³ *State v. Freiburger, supra; State v. Bailey, supra; State v. Rogers, supra.*

³ In addition, *even if* this Court were to find that Appellant preserved the Rule 803(4) challenge to Ms. Keigans' testimony at trial, Appellant failed to include it as a ground when framing his issue on appeal. See Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR ("The statement shall be concise and direct as to each issue.... Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal."). See also *State v. Hopkins*, 431 S.C. 560, 848 S.E.2d 368 (Ct. App. 2020) (when ruling

Assuming *arguendo* this Court finds this issue to be properly before it, Appellant argues the trial court erred in allowing Ms. Keigans to testify as to what the victim told her about the sexual assault beyond the time and place of the assault in violation of Rule 801(d)(1)(D) and beyond the scope of the “Statements for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment” exception in Rule 803(4).

Respondent strongly disagrees. The trial court properly allowed Ms. Keigans’ testimony that related to the time and place of the assault because it was not hearsay under Rule 801(d)(1)(D), and the remainder fell under the “Statements for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment” exception in Rule 803(4).

Hearsay is inadmissible unless an exception applies. Rule 802, SCRE. Hearsay is defined as an out-of-court statement offered at trial to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Rule 801(c), SCRE. Rule 801 sets out some types of out-of-court statements that are specifically excluded from this definition of hearsay. Under Rule 801(d)(1)(D), if the declarant testifies at trial and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement, statements “consistent with the declarant’s testimony in a criminal sexual conduct case or attempted criminal sexual conduct case where the declarant is the victim, and the statement is limited to the time and place of the incident” are not hearsay.

Rule 801(d)(1)(D) thus limits “corroborating testimony” to the time and place of the assault and considers it to be nonhearsay, but any other particulars are generally considered hearsay and inadmissible unless they fall within an exception to the hearsay rule. *State v. Simmons*, 423 S.C. 552, 816 S.E.2d 566 (2018); *Thompson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 814 S.E.2d 487 (2018). One of the

of a trial court is based on multiple grounds, ruling will be affirmed on appeal unless appellant appeals all the grounds).

exceptions to the hearsay rule is the “Statements for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment” exception set out in Rule 803(4), which states:

The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule...:

* * *

(4) Statements for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment. Statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment; provided, however, that the admissibility of statements made after commencement of the litigation is left to the court's discretion.

(Emphasis in original.) This hearsay exception may apply in a criminal sexual conduct case, but it requires a nexus between the information provided by the patient and the examination, diagnosis, or treatment of the patient. *Simmons*, 423 S.C. at 563-564, 816 S.E.2d at 572. “For example, after recent trauma, these types of statements can provide the doctor with specific areas to focus on or specific conditions to search for when performing the diagnostic physical exam and are reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment.” *Id.*, 423 S.C. at 564, 816 S.E.2d at 572. If an objection is raised to the admission of hearsay testimony, the proponent of such bears the burden of showing it falls within a hearsay exception. *Id.*, 423 S.C. at 563, 816 S.E.2d at 572.

To the extent Ms. Keigans testified as to what the victim told her of the time and place of the sexual assault, Appellant appears to agree that that was not hearsay under Rule 801(d)(1)(D) and was thus properly admitted. The other portion of her challenged testimony, set forth above, in which she repeated what the victim told her happened during the sexual assault was hearsay, but fell under the “Statements for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment” exception in Rule 803(4) because it was information necessary for the medical examination and treatment of the victim. Ms. Keigans’ job as the SANE required her to obtain this type of information – what was done to the victim and how – so that she would know where to look on her patient’s body and what

to look for, for purposes of documentation of injuries, collection of evidence, and medical treatment. That is what Ms. Keigans did in this case and that was what she testified to. Knowing what was done to the victim (the sexual assault and the physical assault used to accomplish such), how it was done, and where (not just geographic location of the assault, but also the location on the body of any potential injury or evidence), allowed her to focus her examination and ensure the collection of all necessary written and photographic documentation. Unlike in *State v. Burroughs*, 328 S.C. 489, 492 S.E.2d 408 (Ct. App. 1997), and *State v. Simmons*, *supra*, relied upon by Appellant, the challenged testimony of Ms. Keigans in this case did not include statements that went well beyond what is contemplated by Rule 803(4). Here, there was a direct nexus between the information provided and the examination and treatment of the victim such that the statements were all reasonably pertinent. The challenged testimony clearly falls under the exception.

This case is also further factually distinguishable from the cases cited by Appellant. In *State v. Simmons*, *supra*, *State v. Burroughs*, *supra*, and *State v. Brown*, 286 S.C. 445, 334 S.E.2d 816 (1985), the challenged hearsay testimony included the identification of the defendant as the perpetrator.⁴ Here, Ms. Keigans did not identify Appellant; she never testified that the victim identified her assailant, and did not refer to Appellant by name, but rather used the term “assailant.” Also, in *Simmons*, the prosecution emphasized the testimony of the doctor about what the victim in that case told him and how it was consistent with what the victim told his interviewer and the jury. *Id.*, 423 S.C. at 566, 816 S.E.2d at 573. In this case, the prosecution, in its closing, mentioned

⁴ In its opinion in *Simmons*, 423 S.C. at 559, 816 S.E.2d at 569, the Court cited trial testimony in which a witness said the victims told them their father (Simmons) had them perform sexual acts. In *Burroughs*, 328 S.C. at 496, 492 S.E.2d at 411, the Court of Appeals said that “[a]mong the details of the assault recounted by the witnesses was that the victim told them that, before he raped her, Burroughs asked the victim if he could have a hug.” In *Brown*, 286 S.C. at 446, 334 S.E.2d at 817, the witness repeated the victim’s statement that “Mr. Carl” (Brown) performed the sexual acts on her.

Ms. Keigan's testimony only in the context of the examination she performed and the injuries to the victim she observed during that examination.⁵ (Tr. p. 365, lines 5-23.)

However, assuming *arguendo* the trial court erred in allowing Ms. Keigans to testify as to what the victim told her happened to her, the error was harmless. "The improper admission of hearsay is harmless when it could not have reasonably affected the result of the trial."⁶ *Young, supra*.

"A harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case." *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 447, 447-48, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011). "No definite rule of law governs [a finding of harmless error]; rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial." *Id.* at 447-48, 710 S.E.2d at 60 (quoting *State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 193-94, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990)). If a review of the entire record does not establish that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, then the conviction shall be reversed. See *State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 499, 629 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2006) (citing *State v. Pickens*, 320 S.C. 528, 531, 466 S.E.2d 364, 366 (1996)).

Simmons, 423 S.C. at 565-566, 816 S.E.2d at 573-574. Here, there was no vouching for or improper bolstering of the victim's testimony by Ms. Keigans and the prosecutor did not highlight the hearsay testimony given by Ms. Keigans in closing argument. And, while there was no eyewitness to the actual sexual assault and Appellant's DNA was not found on or in the victim, there was abundant and overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt, notwithstanding this hearsay testimony. Any error in the admission of the challenged testimony would, therefore, be harmless

⁵ While the prosecutor did not, in closing, repeat, discuss or emphasize any testimony by Ms. Keigans as to what the victim told her, she did remind the jury that the victim testified she told Ms. Keigans that it was Appellant who assaulted her. (Tr. p. 366, lines 3-5.)

⁶ "In a direct appeal, a harmless error analysis should be employed when reviewing the admission of hearsay testimony that improperly corroborates the victim's testimony in a sexual assault case." *Thompson*, 423 S.C. at 246, 814 S.E.2d at 492.

beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Huggler v. State*, 360 S.C. 627, 602 S.E.2d 753 (2004), *abrogated on other grds.*, *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018); *State v. Mitchell*, 287 S.C. 572, 336 S.E.2d 150 (1985).

Further assuming *arguendo* this Court finds both error in the admission of the challenged testimony of Ms. Keigans and that its admission was not harmless, only the conviction for criminal sexual conduct in the first degree need be reversed and remanded for a new trial. The challenged testimony could not have impacted the jury's verdict on the other charges, which are supported by abundant and overwhelming evidence, including photographic and eyewitness. *See State v. Brewer*, 411 S.C. 401, 409-410, 768 S.E.2d 656, 660 (2015).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons and any other appearing in the Record on Appeal (as provided for in Rule 220, SCACR), the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.